THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William B. Jackson, Jr., Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2018-001303

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Respondent,

v.

Dorothy Sistrunk, Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

November 26, 2018

Dorothy Sistrunk – *Pro Se*  
423 Bayne Street  
Orangeburg, South Carolina 29115  
(803) 268-0716

Erica G. Lybrand  
Attorney For The Plaintiff  
ROGERS TOWNSEND & THOMAS, PC  
POB 100200  
1221 Main Street 14th Floor  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 771-7900

S. Sterling Laney, III - Esquire  
Attorney For The Plaintiff  
WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP  
550 South Main Street, Suite 400

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I. ERRORS OF LAW

- A. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR BY FAILING TO REALIZE MORTGAGES THAT ARE BASED ON INFLATED APPRAISALS FALSIFIED DOCUMENTATION, FRAUDULENT APPRAISAL INFORMATION, INTENTIONAL MISSTATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS, FORGERY, MISREPRESENTATIONS OF MATERIAL FACTS OR OMISSION OF MATERIAL FACTS ARE NOT ENFORCEABLE?
- B. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR BY NOT CONSIDERING THE JUDICIAL ADMISSIONS IN THE APPELLANT'S NOTARIZED AND VERIFIED PLEADINGS AND STATEMENTS OF FACT IN FILED AFFIDAVITS THAT EXPOSED THE FORGERIES, FRAUDULENT REPRESENTATIONS, MISREPRESENTATION OF MATERIAL FACTS AND CONCEALMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS BY THE PERPETRATORS THAT DEFRAUDED WELLS FARGO OUT OF \$75,000.00 THAT INCLUDED WELLS FARGO'S OWN EMPLOYEES AT WELLS FARGO HOME MORTGAGE?

### II. ABUSE OF DISCRETION

DID THE LOWER COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO STOP THE FORECLOSURE SALE AND FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF TO PROTECT THE PUBLIC FROM BEING VICTIMIZED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED SOLELY ON ATTORNEY ARGUMENTS AND NOT ON STATEMENTS IN NOTARIZED AND VERIFIED PLEADINGS, AFFIDAVITS, EYEWITNESS TESTIMONY, THE ACTUAL FACTS, THE EVIDENCE, THE EXHIBITS DEPOSITIONS AND INTERROGATORIES ON FILE IN THE COURT'S RECORDS?

## INTRODUCTION

There is no valid or lawful mortgage on 423 Bayne Street in Orangeburg, South Carolina, hereinafter also referred to as the property or Exhibit 113, because no lawful brokering occurred and no lawful certification. This appeal is to stop the foreclosure sale of an unlawful and verifiable "Mortgage Fraud" to the general public that is an illegally brokered loan by the Seller -- Thomas Jacobs', an illegal predatory lending scheme and a home improvement and mortgage fraud that was falsely certified by attorney Debra C. Galloway and Stephanie Hammond at the Player Law Firm on December 21, 2007.

The value of 423 Bayne Street is based on an inflated, falsified, forged by name substitution and fraudulent #7-59 appraisals that were done by Jim H. Austin, III in 2007 (WF00001 -26, WF00078 & R. pp. ) [Note: WF means Wells Fargo]

Based on documents with his name and signature, Jim H. Austin, III, forged the Appellant's name on the #7-59 appraisals he originally performed for the borrower, turned seller – Thomas Jacobs/Goldengate Mortgage. (WF00003, WF00016 & R. pp. ) South Carolina's judiciary and officers of the court have a legal duty and responsibility to protect the public from being victimized by mortgage fraud of any kind and to protect the innocent from being victimized by the criminal activity and unlawful schemes of others. The Appellant's statements and averments in verified and/or notarized pleadings relative to this blatant mortgage fraud that is C.A. Case #2008-CP-38-1024, have never been refuted, denied, controverted or contested in any manner in over 10 years.

Loan #0174072777 is not a legitimate mortgage and should not be in a foreclosure proceeding or offered for sale to the general public in a public auction for the reasons stated in ¶ 1 on page 1. In fact, this case should be dismissed with prejudice, the mortgage cancelled and restitution paid to the Appellant. The Respondent's employees at

Wells Fargo Home Mortgage (“WFHM”) and especially, Janet Frotscher, have known this loan is a verifiable mortgage fraud since 12/22/2007 and definitely February 21, 2008. (App’s Ex.s 45, 47, WF00120 & 125 & R. pp. )

The Appellant’s assertions and stipulations for this case are not based on wishful thinking, speculation or some erroneous belief. They are based on and supported by the solid authority of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and the *Mortgage Fraud Reports* of 2006 and 2007, FDIC Policy Statements, United States Codes, the 2006 Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) SARs Report, South Carolina’s Code of Laws, the Uniform Commercial Code, the United States and South Carolina’s Constitution that guarantee equal protection of the laws, the *Mortgage Fraud Statutes* in 13 states, the condition of the property in the Court’s records since 2008, the Restatement (2nd) of Torts, Contracts or Agency, the Respondent’s own documents (WF00001-134 & R.pp. ) and citations from authorities: *To wit...*

A. **(Excerpts) from the FBI Mortgage Fraud Reports 2006 & 2007 the Lower Court ignored**

(1) *FBI 2006 Mortgage Report*: “[E]ach Mortgage Fraud scheme contains some type of "material misstatement, misrepresentation, or omission relating to the property or potential mortgage relied on by an underwriter or lender to fund, purchase or insure a loan." (R. p. )

(2) *FBI 2007 Mortgage Fraud Report*: “[M]ortgage Fraud is defined as the intentional misstatement, misrepresentation, or omission by an applicant or other interested parties, relied on by a lender or underwriter to provide funding for, to purchase, or to insure a mortgage loan.” “[f]inance-related occupations, including accountants, mortgage brokers, and lenders were the most common suspect occupations associated with reported mortgage fraud. Perpetrators in mortgage industry occupations are familiar with the mortgage loan process and therefore know how to exploit vulnerabilities in the system. Victims of mortgage fraud may include borrowers....” (R. p. )

(3) *FBI Financial Crime Report to the Public 2007 – Mortgage Fraud Indicators*:

**“1. Inflated Appraisals (*Jim H. Austin, III*)**

2. Commissions/Bonuses to Brokers and Appraisers
3. **Falsifications on Loan Applications** (*David Terrell & Employees at WFHM*)
4. Requested to Sign Blank Application, Requested to Sign Blank Bank Forms
5. **Fake Supporting Loan Documentation** (*Thomas Jacobs, Jim H. Austin, III, attorney Debra C. Galloway, Stephanie Hammond, David Terrell and Wells Fargo's own employees at WFHM and especially, Janet Frotscher*)
6. Requested to Sign Other Types of Blank Forms”

**B. (Excerpts) from the FBI Statement of Common Mortgage Fraud Schemes the Lower Court ignored**

(1) *Property Flipping*: “Property is purchased, falsely appraised at a higher value and then quickly sold. What makes property flipping illegal is that the appraisal information is fraudulent. The schemes typically involve one or more of the following: fraudulent appraisals, doctored loan documentation.....,”

(2) *Inflated Appraisals*: “An appraiser (*Insert: Jim H. Austin, III*) acts in collusion with a borrower (*Insert: Thomas Jacobs – turned seller*) and provides a misleading appraisal report to the lender (*Insert: Wells Fargo*). The report inaccurately states an inflated property value (*Insert: \$75,000.00*).” (WF00004, WF00017, R. pp. & T. p. 11, Line 20)

(3) Basing a residential mortgage on falsified documentation, inflated appraisals, fraudulent appraisal information (*Insert: Loan #0174072777*), intentional misstatement, misrepresentation, or omission of a material fact to defraud a federal reserve bank is a criminal act. (18 USC § 1344)

**C. (Excerpts) from the FDIC Policy Statement 5000 the Lower Court ignored**

*FDIC Policy Statement 5000* clearly states in pertinent parts... “[T]he Uniform Retail Credit Classification and Account Management Policy establishes standards for the classification and treatment of retail credit in financial institutions. -- For purposes of this policy, retail credit also includes loans to individuals secured by their personal residence, including first mortgage, home equity, and home improvement loans. ----- Actual credit losses on individual retail credits should be recorded when the institution becomes aware of the loss, but in no case should the charge-off exceed the time frames stated in this policy. This policy does not preclude an institution from adopting a more conservative internal policy. Loans in bankruptcy should be classified Loss and charged off within 60 days of receipt of notification of filing from the bankruptcy court or within the time frames specified in this classification policy, whichever is shorter, unless the institution can clearly demonstrate and document that repayment is likely to occur. ----- **Fraudulent loans should be classified**

**Loss and charged off no later than 90 days of discovery or within the time frames adopted in this classification policy, whichever is shorter.** [Boldness and underlining added for emphasis.]

**D. Code of Federal Regulations & United States Codes the Lower Court ignored:**

Based on the legal definition of mortgage fraud and documents in the Court records with their name(s) and/or signature and the Appellant's personal knowledge of the events, Wells Fargo's own employees, especially, Janet Frotscher, the so called Broker - David Terrell/Golden Gate Mortgage, Inc., the Appraiser - Jim H. Austin, III, Thomas Jacobs/Goldengate Mortgage's original borrower turned seller, attorney Debra C. Galloway and Stephanie Hammond are the participants in the Court's record that are involved in a mortgage fraud scheme that is clearly defined by legal precedents, the Code of Federal Regulations ("CFR") and United States Codes ("USC"); i.e.,

- (1) 12 CFR § 1731.2(c) & (e)
- (2) 24 CFR Part 35 – Subpart A: § 35.80, § 35.86 and § 35.96(a)-(f)
- (3) 15 USC § 1681n(a)
- (4) 18 USC § 1001(a), § 1014, § 1344(1)-(2) & § 1346

Wells Fargo, as principal to its agents at the Player Law Firm, i.e., attorney Debra C. Galloway and the borrower turned seller – Thomas Jacobs/Goldengate Mortgage – violated 24 CFR Part 35 – Subpart A on 12/21/2007 – “*Disclosure of Known Lead-Based Paint and/or Lead-Based Paint Hazards Upon Sale or Lease of Residential Property*” at 1415 Board River Road in Columbia, South Carolina (WF00102, App's Ex.s 68-69 & R. pp. )

(1) *Crystal Ice Co. of Cola. v. First Colonial Corp.*, 257 SE 2d 496 (SC: S. Ct. 1979) “[It] is well established that a principal is affected with constructive knowledge of all material facts of which his agent receives notice while acting within the scope of his authority. {See 3 Am. Jur. (2d), Agency, § 273, *et seq.*; 3 C.J.S. Agency § 432, *et seq.*; American Freehold Land Mortgage Co. v. Felder, 44 S.C. 478, 22 S.E. 598 (1895); Hill v. Carolina Power & Light Co., 204 S.C. 83, 28 S.E. (2d) 545 (1943)}”.

(2) Section 219(1) of the Restatement (Second) of Agency (1957) sets out a central principle of agency law "[A] master is subject to liability for the torts of his servants committed while acting in the scope of their employment."

Rule 9(b), SCRCF, requires averments of fraud to be stated with particularity. Therefore, Wells Fargo's underwriters and the so called Broker -- David Terrell/Golden Gate Mortgage, Inc. both used an unauthorized credit report on 10/3/2007 (WF00066-73 & R. pp. ) Attorney Debra C. Galloway and Stephanie Hammond, falsely certified the mortgage on 12/21/2007 (WF00058, 60, 97 & R. pp. ) and along with the Appraiser -- Jim H. Austin, III (WF00001-27, 78 & R. pp. ) who falsely certified repairs were completed on 9/14/2007, forged the Appellant's name on a #7-59 appraisal, inflated the value and fraudulently represented the property by 10/9/2007, Thomas Jacobs/Goldengate Mortgage (App's Ex. 36, WF0004, 27, 29, 88, 90-91, 93 & R. pp. ) who illegally brokered the loan, the so called Broker -- David Terrell/Golden Gate Mortgage, Inc., (WF00030-32, 66-73, 80-85, 88 & R. pp. ) who falsified documents, covered up the illegal brokering activity of Thomas Jacobs, inflated the Appellant's income by December 4, 2007 and Wells Fargo's own employees (App. Ex.s 8-10, WF00029, 34-35, 66-73, 120, 125 & R. pp. ) who inflated the Appellant's income, ordered the second #7-59 appraisal that entrapped the Appellant and forged her initials on an altered contract of sale by December 20, 2007 all the above named knowingly falsified, or concealed or covered up material facts with materially fraudulent representations to Wells Fargo. David Terrell, Thomas Jacobs and Janet Frotscher to a government agency, i.e., SCDCA, (R. pp. ), WFHM employees to the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") (R. pp. ) and knowingly participated in a scheme or artifice that defrauded Wells Fargo out of \$75,000.00 with fraudulent representations that deprived the Appellant of the intangible right of honest services

E. **(Excerpts) Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) Mortgage Loan Fraud Report - 11/ 2006 the Lower Court Ignored**

“[S]uspicious activity reporting confirms that fraud for profit is often committed with the complicity of industry insiders such as mortgage brokers, real estate agents, property appraisers, and settlement agents (attorneys and title examiners) --- “[T]ypical fraudulent activities associated with this category in the SAR filing sampling are: appraisal fraud; fraudulent flipping.....”--- “[A]ll fraudulent flipping and nearly all other organized fraud schemes that were reviewed relied on fraudulent appraisals.”

F. **South Carolina Code of Laws the Lower Court ignored**

Thomas Jacobs/Goldengate Mortgage brokered loan #0174072777 not David Terrell/Golden Gate Mortgage, Inc. David Terrell never contacted the Appellant, never met the Appellant, never sent or gave the Appellant any loan applications or information and was not at 423 Bayne Street in Orangeburg, South Carolina on 11/26/2007. The borrower turned seller – Thomas Jacobs presented Goldengate Mortgage as the lender. (WF00001-27 & R. pp. ) The Appellant considered Wells Fargo as an affiliate of the lender at the time in 2007. Therefore, loan #0174072777 is an “Illegally Brokered Loan” under South Carolina law; i.e., SC Code of Laws....

- (1) § 16-13-10(A)(B)
- (2) § 34-3-110 (A)-(C)
- (3) § 37-5-108(1)-(2)
- (4) § 37-23-40(1)-(2) & § 37-23-50(A)-(B)
- (5) § 40-58-20(40)
- (6) § 40-58-30(A)(B)(D) & § 40-58-50(E)(1)
- (7) § 40-58-70 (1)-(3)

All the Appellant’s affidavits relative to Debra C. Galloway and Stephanie Hammond substantially comply with Rule 11(c), SCRPC. Stephanie Hammond was not at the closing on 12/21/2007 and was never in the presence of the Appellant. (R. pp. ) Therefore, she could not have witnessed the Appellant signing any documents. Based on the Appellants personal knowledge of the circumstances and events, Wells Fargo’s filed

documents in the Court's records and South Carolina's Code of Laws, loan #0174072777

is a "Falsely Certified" mortgage. (R. pp. ), i.e., SC Code of Laws.....

( 8) § 26-1-95 & § 26-1-160(A)(B)(2)(5)

( 9) § 30-5-30(A)(B)

(10) "[A] public officer who negligently makes a defective or untrue certificate is liable, together with his surety, on his official bond for any damages resulting from such negligent act. Again in *United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. State*, 211 Miss. 864 (Miss. 1951), the court held that "[w]here a notary is called on to perform an act which he is authorized by law to perform, and he does so carelessly or fraudulently, he and his surety are liable for any loss proximately resulting therefrom. A notary public is not an insurer, but he is under a duty to his clients to act honestly, skillfully and with reasonable diligence."

(11) "[A] notary public is always liable for all actions, whether intentional or unintentional. This liability is unlimited to financial losses and damages. Even if the notary public is guilty of negligent or intentional acts, the notary will be personally liable to the injured party." In *United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. State*, 211 Miss. 864 (Miss. 1951), the court stated, "[t]hat a notary public is liable on his official bond, for wrongful official acts resulting in loss or injury. It is not necessary that the wrongful act of the notary shall be the sole cause of the loss. If it is a concurring cause and plays a part in bringing about the injury, the liability for the loss is fixed. A notary public engages in misconduct by affixing the notarial stamp and signature to an acknowledgment that the subscriber personally appeared on a specific date. A notary who knowingly purports to authenticate a document which, in fact, has not been properly authenticated, to the detrimental reliance of innocent third parties, is liable for fraud."

**G. The Uniform Commercial Code (UCC) the Lower Court ignored**

*ARTICLE III* of the Uniform Commercial Code 305(1) and § 36-3-305 SC Code of Laws are virtually identical. § 36-3-305(a)(1)(ii)-(iii) SC Code of Laws clearly states the following in pertinent parts: "[a] Except as otherwise provided in this section, the right to enforce the obligation of a party to pay an instrument is subject to the following: (1) a defense of the obligor based on.. (ii) .. illegality of the transaction which, under other law, nullifies the obligation of the obligor, (iii) fraud that induced the obligor to sign the instrument with neither knowledge nor reasonable opportunity to learn of its character or its essential terms."

**H. United States & South Carolina Constitutional provisions the Lower Court ignored that provides for a jury trial and equal protection of the laws**

(1) UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION - AMENDMENT VII: “In suits at common law, where the value in controversy shall exceed twenty dollars, the right of trial by jury shall be preserved, and no fact tried by a jury, shall be otherwise reexamined in any court of the United States, than according to the rules of the common law.”

(2) UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION – AMENDMENT XIV: that clearly states in pertinent parts.. “[A]ll persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the state wherein they reside. No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.”

(3) STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION – ARTICLE 1 - § 3: states in pertinent parts.. “[T]he privileges and immunities of citizens of this State and of the United States under this Constitution shall not be abridged, nor shall any person be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law, nor shall any person be denied the equal protection of the laws.”

(4) STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION – ARTICLE 1 - § 14: In pertinent parts.. “[T]he right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury; to be fully informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to be fully heard in his defense by himself or by his counsel or by both.”

**I. The Appellant’s description of the actual condition of 423 Bayne Street the Lower Court ignored**

The Appellant is not only a litigant, the Appellant is also an eyewitness. The eyewitness description and condition of 423 Bayne Street in 2007 has been in the public records of Civil Action Case #2008-CP-38-1024 in the Court of Common Pleas in Orangeburg, South Carolina since July 31, 2008 on pages 27-34 when the Appellant filed her *First Amendment to Answer to Complaint with Counterclaims*. This description has never been refuted, denied, contested or proven false in 10 years and the house’s actual condition can be verified by anyone with reasonable intelligence. (Appellant’s Exhibit 113, the property) and (R. pp. )

**J. Thirteen (13) states in which mortgage fraud is defined and prosecuted as a statutory offense that the Lower Court ignored.**

Arizona Rev. Stat. § 13-2320(A)(1)-(4); Colorado Rev. Stat. § 18-4-401(9)(a)-(e); Florida Stat. Ann. § 817.545(2)(a)-(d); Georgia Code Ann. §§ 16-8-102 to 16-8-106; Kentucky Rev. Stat. Ann. § 286.8-990; Maryland. Code Ann. Real Property, § 7-401 to 7-409; Minnesota Stat. § 609.822; Mississippi Code Ann. § 97-23-107; Missouri. Rev. Stat. § 570.310; N.Y. Penal §§ 187.00 to 187.25; North Carolina Gen. Stat. §§ 14-118.10 to 14-118.17; Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-6-1203 to 76-6-1204; Washington Rev. Code § 19.144.080.

**K. Restatement (2nd) of Torts & Contracts the Lower Court ignored**

From *Miles v. Perpetual Savings & Loan*, 58 Ohio St.2d 97 (1979) “[R]e-statement of Torts 2d 119, Section 551, subsections (1) and (2), states, in essence, that ‘[a] party is under a duty to speak, and therefore liable for non-disclosure, if the party fails to exercise reasonable care to disclose a material fact which may justifiably induce another party to act or refrain from acting, and the non-disclosing party knows that the failure to disclose such information to the other party will render a prior statement or representation untrue or misleading.’ See *Restatement of Torts 2d*, at Comment h to subsection 2(c) and *Illustrations 1 and 2*, at page 122; cf. *Equitable Life Ins. Co. of Iowa v. Halsey, Stuart & Co.* (1941), 312 U.S. 410; *Fruit Dispatch Co. v. Wolman*, (1925), 124 Me. 355, 128 A. 740.”

In *Herrod v. First Republic Mortg. Corp.*, 625 S.E.2d 373 (W. Va.2005), the court cited, “[a] misrepresentation may make a contract voidable if it is either fraudulent or material.” *Restatement (Second) Contracts ch. 7, Introductory Note (1981)* “[T]he question of whether a party was fraudulently induced into a contract may go to the formation of the contract. A party that is misled as to the essential terms of a contract does not technically agree to the contract, as no assent to its terms has been formulated due to the misrepresentation. In this situation, it is irrelevant whether the

misrepresentation was made by the other party to the contract or a third person. See *Restatement (Second) Contracts § 163 (1981)* (“It is immaterial under the rule stated in this Section whether the misrepresentation is made by a party to the transaction or by a third person.”).

“[O]ne of the interests protected by the law of deceit is ‘the interest in formulating business judgments without being misled by others’ into making unwise decisions which result in financial loss.” *Fleming & Gray, Misrepresentation, Part I, 37 Maryland L. Rev. 286-287 (1977)*. “[I]t is well established that an action for fraud and deceit is maintainable not only as a result of affirmative misrepresentations, but also for negative ones, such as the failure of a party to a transaction to fully disclose facts of a material nature where there exists a duty to speak. *Prosser on Torts (4 Ed. 1971) 695-696, Representation and Nondisclosure, Section 106; 37 American Jurisprudence 2d 197-201, Fraud and Deceit, Sections 144 and 145; Barder v. McClung (1949), 93 Cal.App.2d 692, 697, 209 P.2d 808.*”

(1) “[F]raud in the Factum” has been described as the kind of fraud that arises when a party signs a document without full know-ledge of the character, supporting documentation, representations or the essential elements that brought the agreement into existence.” *McLemore v. Landry*, 898 F.2d 996, 1002 (5th Cir.), cert. denied sub no; *River Villa Ptsp. v. Sun Belt Fed. Bank, F.S.B.*, 111 S.Ct. 428 (1990). “[T]his kind of fraud renders any underlying agreement void.” *FDIC v. Gordy*, 928 F.2d 1558, 1565 (11th Cir.1991). (R. p. )

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