THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable James B. Jackson
Master In Equity

Appellate Case No. 2018-001303
Circuit Court Case No. 2008-CP-38-1024

RECEIVED
JAN 29 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,..... Respondent,

v.

Dorothy Sistrunk,..... Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

S. Sterling Laney, III
550 South Main Street, Suite 400
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 255-5400

M. Todd Carroll
1221 Main Street, Suite 1600
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 454-6504

Attorneys for Respondent

January 28, 2019

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. Ms. Sistrunk has not preserved any issues for appeal because this Court has already rejected her arguments about the merits of this case, and she did not appeal the foreclosure judgment.

Ms. Sistrunk’s 44-page opening brief fails to present a single issue that has been preserved for appellate review. In that filing, Ms. Sistrunk exhaustively argues that she should be relieved of her mortgage debt because of an alleged fraud perpetrated on her through a series of incorrect appraisals, forgeries, oral misrepresentations, and falsified documents. She is indiscriminate as to whom she attributes the fraud:

- On Pages 2 through 23 of her brief, Ms. Sistrunk accuses the following people of participating in a scheme against her: (1) an appraiser, (2) the person who sold her the mortgaged property, (3) the mortgage broker, (4) the closing attorneys, and (5) various Wells Fargo employees.
- On Pages 23 through 26, she accuses (6) the current foreclosure counsel from Rogers Townsend of being part of the fraud.
- On Pages 27 through 33, she adds (7) the prior foreclosure counsel from Nelson Mullins to the list of alleged schemers.
- And on Page 34, Ms. Sistrunk alleges that (8) Judge Goodstein treated her unreasonably by limiting the amount of time she would be allotted to argue a frivolous motion back in 2012.

Fortunately, the Court does not need to address any of this wild (and false) hyperbole because none of it is properly before the Court. This is so for at least two reasons: first, the Court has already considered and rejected Ms. Sistrunk's arguments; and second, she failed to appeal the circuit court's foreclosure order disposing of this case. Each is addressed below in turn.

Law of the Case from Prior Appeal: Ms. Sistrunk previously asserted these same allegations and arguments to this Court in her 2014 appeal. The Court summarily rejected them with a *per curiam* order. *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Sistrunk*, Op. No. 2016-UP-472 (S.C. Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2016) (R. p. ____).

The Court's earlier rejection of Ms. Sistrunk's arguments is binding on this appeal. *See, e.g., Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) ("Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court."); *Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 252 S.C. 353, 357, 166 S.E.2d 297, 299 (1969) ("It is well settled in this jurisdiction that a decision of this court on a former appeal is the law of the case."); *Robert E. Lee & Co. v. Comm'n of Pub. Works*, 250 S.C. 394, 399, 158 S.E.2d 185, 188 (1967) ("This contention has been urged by the defendant from the inception of the litigation and is foreclosed by our decision on the prior appeal, which is binding upon the parties both as precedent and as law of the case.").

This is especially true in this case because of Ms. Sistrunk's dramatic refusal to seek a writ of certiorari of this Court's earlier decision. *See, e.g., Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Hous. Corp.*, 338 S.C. 171, 175, 525 S.E.2d 869, 871-72 (2000) (holding that both the plaintiff and the subsequent appellate court were bound by an appellate court's earlier rulings when the plaintiff failed to seek a writ of certiorari from the South Carolina Supreme Court); *Barth v.*

Barth, 293 S.C. 305, 308, 360 S.E.2d 309, 310 (1987) (“Ordinarily, the disposition of a case in the Court of Appeals when certiorari is not applied for nor granted becomes the law of the case.”).

Because this Court has already considered and rejected Ms. Sistrunk’s outrageous allegations—allegations which she has used to make this case last more than ten years—the law-of-the-case doctrine bars her from re-raising them in this appeal.

Unappealed Foreclosure Order: Not only does this Court’s prior decision bar Ms. Sistrunk from re-raising her arguments, she is also prevented from re-raising them because she failed to appeal Judge Jackson’s foreclosure order that was entered after remittitur.

In that order, Judge Jackson specifically held that Ms. Sistrunk “admitted that she only made two payments on the loan and has not made any additional payments since early 2009.” (R. p. ___; Order Granting Wells Fargo’s Motion for Summary Judgment at 6 (Feb. 14, 2018).) He further explained that she “has admitted to signing the loan documents and acknowledges that she is not interested in working with Wells Fargo to resolve the default through loss mitigation or other foreclosure intervention alternatives.” (*Id.*) Finally, Judge Jackson held that Wells Fargo had complied with the Supreme Court’s administrative order that governs residential foreclosures. (*Id.* at 8.)

The circuit court entered that dispositive order on February 14, 2018, but Ms. Sistrunk did not appeal that decision. *Compare* Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(ii), SCACR (requiring an appellant to attach “a copy of the order(s) and judgment(s) to be challenged on appeal if they have been reduced to writing” to the notice of appeal), *with* R. p. ___, Notice of Appeal (appealing only the circuit court’s denial of Ms. Sistrunk’s post-judgment motion).

Accordingly, Judge Jackson’s foreclosure order is the law of the case, and Ms. Sistrunk’s appellate arguments are barred for this additional reason. *See, e.g., Dreher v. S.C. DHEC*, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015) (“Thus, should the appealing party fail to raise all of the grounds upon which a lower court’s decision was based, those unappealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case.”); *Ex parte Morris*, 367 S.C. 56, 66, 624 S.E.2d 649, 654 (2006) (“Although we find error, we affirm the order of the family court because Custodian failed to appeal the ruling which dismissed her from the case.”); *Eadie v. Krause*, 381 S.C. 55, 66, 671 S.E.2d 389, 394 (Ct. App. 2008) (“This ruling was not appealed; thus, it is the law of the case.”).

Because all of Ms. Sistrunk’s appellate arguments are prohibited by the law-of-the-case doctrine, the Court should readily affirm the circuit court’s rulings.

II. Judge Jackson did not abuse his discretion in denying Ms. Sistrunk’s futile, untimely post-judgment motion.

Ms. Sistrunk has only appealed Judge Jackson’s denial of her motion captioned “Emergency Motion to End the Foreclosure Sale in Accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b)(6).” (R. p. ____.) Judge Jackson denied that motion without discussion through a Form 4 Order. (R. p. ____.) It cannot legitimately be contended that he abused his discretion in denying that motion, for several reasons. *See Coleman v. Dunlap*, 306 S.C. 491, 494, 413 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1992) (“Whether to grant or deny a motion under SCRCF 60(b) is within the sound discretion of the judge.”).

Motion is Moot: Ms. Sistrunk’s motion asked that the circuit court “end the foreclosure sale” resulting from the foreclosure judgment. (R. p. ____.) But she filed this motion on June 11, 2018—one week *after* the sale. (R. p. ____.) Because it sought to stop an event that had already happened, the motion is moot, and Judge Jackson did not abuse his discretion in denying it.

Wrong Procedural Rules: Ms. Sistrunk’s motion purports to be made under Rule 60(b)(6) of the **Federal** Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. pp. ___–___.) Not only is the motion asserted under the wrong set of procedural rules, there is no Rule 60(b)(6) in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Judge Jackson did not abuse his discretion in denying a motion that is not even recognized by the governing procedural rules.

Recycled Previously-Rejected Arguments: Ms. Sistrunk’s motion only repeated the same “fraud” arguments that were previously rejected by both the circuit court and this Court in her prior appeal, including her baseless (and outrageous) attacks on individual appraisers, brokers, lawyers, bankers, and even Judge Goodstein. (R. pp. ___–___.) Because of the law-of-the-case doctrine discussed above, Judge Jackson was required to reject Ms. Sistrunk’s arguments when they re-appeared in a post-judgment motion. *See Judy*, 381 S.C. at 458, 674 S.E.2d at 153 (explaining that “a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court”).¹

Untimely Post-Judgment Motion: Although she argued that foreclosure is improper in her post-judgment motion, Ms. Sistrunk filed that motion nearly four months after Judge Jackson entered the foreclosure order, and nearly three months after the time to appeal the foreclosure order had expired. Accordingly, her motion—even if treated as arising under Rule 60, SCRC—was untimely and cannot be considered on its merits. *See, e.g., Tench v. S.C. Dep’t of Educ.*, 347 S.C. 117, 121, 553 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2001) (“A party may not invoke this rule [*i.e.* Rule 60(b), SCRC] where it could have pursued the issue on appeal.”).

¹ Not surprisingly, the entire “abuse of discretion” discussion in Ms. Sistrunk’s appellate brief rehashes once more her “fraud” allegations. (Sistrunk Br. at 42–44.) For the reasons explained above, the law-of-the-case doctrine voids those arguments.

No Extrinsic Fraud: Rule 60(b), SCRCF, provides post-judgment relief only where the movant comes forward with evidence of extrinsic fraud involving the underlying proceedings. *Raby Construction*, 358 S.C. at 20–21, 594 S.E.2d at 483. “Extrinsic fraud is fraud that induces a person not to present a case or deprives a person of the opportunity to be heard.” *Hilton Head Ctr. of S.C., Inc. v. S.C. PSC*, 294 S.C. 9, 11, 362 S.E.2d 176, 177 (1987). Despite all of her inflammatory rhetoric, Ms. Sistrunk did not argue in her post-judgment motion that anyone committed any extrinsic fraud. Nor did she make any such argument in her appellate brief. Accordingly, Rule 60(b), SCRCF, cannot apply to this situation as a matter of law, just as the Court recognized when it affirmed Judge Goodstein’s denial of Ms. Sistrunk’s earlier Rule 60 motion. *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Sistrunk*, Op. No. 2016-UP-472, ¶ 2 (S.C. Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2016) (R. p. ____).

No Meritorious Defense: Finally, relief under Rule 60(b), SCRCF, requires the movant to come forward with a meritorious defense. *Mitchell Supply Co v. Gaffney*, 297 S.C. 160, 163, 375 S.E.2d 321, 324 (Ct. App. 1988). Ms. Sistrunk has not done so here, nor can she make any legitimate argument on this point. As Judge Jackson’s unappealed foreclosure judgment recognizes, Ms. Sistrunk admitted that she entered into the mortgage loan agreement with Wells Fargo, that she defaulted on that loan (and did so a decade ago without making any payments since), and that “she is not interested in working with Wells Fargo to resolve the default through loss mitigation or other foreclosure intervention alternatives.” (R. p. ____; Order Granting Wells Fargo’s Motion for Summary Judgment at 6 (Feb. 14, 2018).) In light of these admissions, there is no conceivable defense to Wells Fargo’s foreclosure action.

For all of these reasons, the Court should affirm Judge Jackson’s denial of Ms. Sistrunk’s post-judgment motion.

CONCLUSION